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Unprecedented Tucson Growth:  1950-1970 

Tucson experienced tremendous growth, with the metropolitan area expanding more 

than eight-fold and the population mushrooming almost six-fold to a total of 263,000.  

The TFD grew along with the city, by 1970 operating 12 fire stations, up from 4, 

increasing the firefighting force from 65 to 279, and adding Rescue and Fire Prevention 

missions.  Three Chiefs guided the TFD in fighting 35 major fires, culminating with the 

disastrous Pioneer Hotel fire that caused 29 deaths. 

[ŜǘΩǎ ǘŀƭƪ ŀōƻǳǘ what was happening in Tucson before talking about developments with the Tucson Fire 

Department (TFD). 

Tucson Perspective 

Summary.  In the 1950s, along with gigantic expansion of the metropolitan area and huge population 

growth, Tucson experienced a dramatic transformation, changing from a small town to, in Tucson 

ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŀƴ /Φ [Φ {ƻƴƴƛŎƘǎŜƴΩs words, ŀ άƳŜǘǊƻǇƻƭƛǎέ ŀƴŘΣ ōŜŎŀǳǎŜ ƻŦ ŀ άǘƛŘŀƭ ǿŀǾŜ ƻŦ ƛƳƳƛƎǊŀǘƛƻƴ Χ began 

ǘƻ ōŜ ŀ ƳǳƭǘƛƭƛƴƎǳŀƭΣ Ƴǳƭǘƛƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŎƛǘȅΦέ  Reasons for the huge growth rate included increased 

manufacturing with new industries relocating to Tucson, an enormous increase in tourism leading to a 

construction boom, the permanent return of servicemen who were trained in Tucson during World War 

II, the wide use of air conditioning that made desert life so much more pleasant year round, and of 

course, the people already living in the newly incorporated areas.   

One of the keystone industry manufacturing startups during this period was Hughes Aircraft Company 

which in 1951 built a new manufacturing plant aside the Tucson Municipal Airport.  Initially 

manufacturing radar units, the company gradually transitioned to producing military missiles, becoming 

ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜƳƛŜǊ ƳƛǎǎƛƭŜ ōǳƛƭŘŜǊ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ¦Φ{ΦΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƻŘŀȅ ŀǎ wŀȅǘƘŜƻƴ aƛǎǎƛƭŜ {ȅǎǘŜƳǎΣ ƛǎ ¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ 

largest employer. 

Other large companies that came to Tucson during the 1950s include the Arizona Portland Cement 

Company, the Chapman-Dyer Steel Manufacturing Company, and the Krieger Air Conditioning Company. 

Here are a few other milestones that helped define the 1950s in the Tucson area: 

a. 1950 - The Catalina Highway to Mt. Lemmon was completed. 

b. 1952 - The Arizona Sonoran Desert Museum opened. 

c. 1953 - The community of Green Valley was founded. 

d. 1953 - First local Television, KOPO Channel 13. 

e. 1955 - First Gem and Mineral Show 

f. 1958 - Kitt Peak Observatory founded. 

The 1960s in Tucson started with a business slow-down but the population still expanded rapidly 

because of the steady flow of immigration from all over the world.  Business began to pick up by the 

mid-1960s.  The big copper mines that ringed the town expanded and stepped up production.   Nearby 
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enterprises like the 18 Titan missile sites and the astronomical observatory at Kitt Peak added to 

¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ ŜŎƻƴƻƳȅΦ   Construction of the I-10 freeway and supporting road infrastructure started in the 

1960s and was completed in the 1970s.   

Other milestones that helped characterize the 1960s include: 

a. 1960 - El Con Center 

opens as Tucson first 

shopping mall. 

b. 1961 - Municipal 

Airport becomes 

international. 

c. 1963 - UA College of 

Medicine founded. 

d. 1966 - First Tucson 

urban renewal 

project approved: 

Pueblo Center. 

e. 1967 - Reid Park Zoo 

founded. 

f. 1969 - Pima 

Community College 

opens. 

 

Municipal Growth.  In 1950 the city of Tucson encompassed only 9.6 square miles.  ¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ ƭŜŀŘŜǊǎ 

thought that the city needed to grow rapidly in order to capitalize on the prosperity of the times.  

!ŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎƭȅΣ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ мфрл ŀƴŘ мфтлΣ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ŀ ǎǘŜŀŘȅ ǎŜǊƛŜǎ ƻŦ см ǎŜǇŀǊŀǘŜ ŀƴƴŜȄŀǘƛƻƴǎΣ ¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ 

metropolitan area grew over eightfold to 80.7 square miles, expanding in all directions.   

Three of the annexations contributed almost 75% of the growth: 

 12/05/1955      6.1 sq. mi. East side:  Pima Street south to 22nd Street, east to Craycroft  

         Road 

 03/26/1959 21.3 sq. mi. North to Roger Road, east to Kolb Road 

 03/18/1960 25.0 sq. mi. West to Silverbell Road, south to the San Xavier Indian   

        Reservation   

The accompanying map shows the results of all annexations through 1967 and subsequent annexations 

through 1980. 

Tucson in 1966, looking north.  Our small town had turned into a sizeable 

city.  The original Pima County Courthouse is at the center; the Pioneer Hotel 

is visible at right-center.  (Postcard courtesy of Al Ring) 
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This 1967 map of Tucson and vicinity shows how much the corporate limits and urbanized area 

had expanded since 1950.  (Courtesy of Tucson - The Life and Times of an American City) 
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Population.  ¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƎǊƻǿǘƘ ƛƴ ǘƘis period was equally dramatic.  According to U.S. Census 

records, the 1950 population of 45,454 grew to a whopping 262,933 by 1970, most of that increase 

ƻŎŎǳǊǊƛƴƎ ōȅ мфслΣ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ŀŎŎƻƳǇŀƴȅƛƴƎ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƎǊƻǿǘƘ ŎƘŀǊǘ ǎƘƻǿǎΦ  ¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ ƛƴŎǊŜŘƛōƭŜ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ 

growth in the 1950s is even more visible in the second chart of percentage population growth by 

decade. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Also during this period, the percentage of Anglos in the Tucson population, which had been increasing 

for years, peaked near 80% in 1960 and began to decline as the percentage of Hispanics increased - a 

trend continuing to this day.   

Water.  Population grƻǿǘƘΣ ƳƛƴƛƴƎΣ ŀƴŘ ŀƎǊƛŎǳƭǘǳǊŜ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜŘ ¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŦƻǊ ǿŀǘŜǊ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 

1950s.  The city was almost completely dependent on pumping ground water to satisfy these needs.  In 

1952 Tucson began to acquire well sites in the Avra Valley to the northwest of town.   Having started in 

1938, the City continued to purchase private water companies, most to provide water service to new 

ǎǳōŘƛǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴΩǎ rapid expansion had encompassed.  By 1965 the City had added 200 private 

water companies.  To provide water storage against severe seasonal requirements, Tucson built a 20-

million gallon reservoir in 1954 near Craycroft Road and 22nd Street and another in 1964 at the 

southeast corner of Old Nogales Highway and Valencia Road.  According to Douglas E. Kupel, in his book 

Fuel for Growth - ²ŀǘŜǊ ŀƴŘ !ǊƛȊƻƴŀΩǎ ¦Ǌōŀƴ 9ƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘΣ ά.ŜǘǿŜŜƴ мфпт ŀƴŘ мфсрΣ ƎǊƻǳƴŘǿŀǘŜǊ 

ƭŜǾŜƭǎ ŘǊƻǇǇŜŘ ǘǿŜƴǘȅ ǘƻ ŦƻǊǘȅ ŦŜŜǘΦέ  ¢ǳŎǎƻƴ ǿƻǳƭŘ ŦŀŎŜ ŀ ǿŀǘŜǊ ŎǊƛǎƛǎ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƳƛŘ-1970s. 
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Tucson Fire Department 

The TFD was severely challenged to provide fire protection to the fast growing city of Tucson.  Additional 

fire stations, firefighting apparatus, manpower, and support infrastructure were urgently needed. 

Growth and Change.   From 1950-1970, in order to cover the more than eight-fold increased fire 

coverage area, the TFD added 10 fire stations. Accounting for one closed station and one temporary 

decommissioning, there were 12 operational stations in 1970.  The rapid expansion of service area 

ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ άŜƴǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ Řƛǎǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴέ ƻŦ ǘǿƻ ǎmall private fire agencies, the Catalina Fire 

Department, absorbed with the March 1959 city annexation, and the Pima Merchant Patrol, taken over 

with the March 1960 annexation.  

During this period the TFD put in service 18 additional pumper apparatus, including a few used pumpers 

from the two private fire departments, and four aerial ladder trucks.  The first diesel pumper was 

purchased in 1967.  

9ȄǇŀƴŘƛƴƎ ƛǘǎ Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴ ǘƻ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ άwŜǎŎǳŜΣέ ǘƘŜ ¢C5 ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŘ its first dedicated first aid van in 1951, a 

natural follow-up to providing limited first-aid services in the 1920s, 30s, and 40s.  By 1970 the TFD had 

ŀ άŦƭŜŜǘέ ƻŦ five rescue vehicles, based at five fire stations distributed over the TFD coverage area. 

To man the additional stations and operate 

the new firefighting apparatus and rescue 

vans, the number of TFD personnel 

increased dramatically from 65 to 279 

during this period. 

Adoption of Fire Prevention Ordinance No. 

мрнп ōȅ ¢ǳŎǎƻƴ ƛƴ мфрп ŀǎǎƛǎǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ ¢C5Ωǎ 

Fire Prevention Division.  The TFD shared 

radio frequencies with the police 

department until November, 1955, when 

the TFD was assigned its own frequency 

band.  In mid-1956 firefighters began 

routine daily testing and inspection of fire 

alarm systems, including 86 fire alarm 

boxes.  In that same period, the TFD began inspecting family dwellings for fire risks. 

Lƴ мфсм ¢ǳŎǎƻƴ ƻǇŜƴŜŘ ŀ ƴŜǿ /ƻƳƳǳƴƛŎŀǘƛƻƴǎ /ŜƴǘŜǊ ƛƴ wŀƴŘƻƭǇƘ tŀǊƪ ŦƻǊ ǳǎŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŎƛǘȅΩǎ tǳōlic 

Works Department, Police Department, and Fire Department.  All fire alerts - from alarm boxes, 

telephone calls, and automatic devices - were now routed to the Communications Center which had 

two-way radio connection, as well as direct telephone connection, with each of the fire stations.  All 

mobile fire equipment was equipped with radios and could be controlled from the Center. 

άwŜǎŎǳŜ bƻΦ мέ ǿŀǎ ƛƴǘǊƻŘǳŎŜŘ ƛƴǘƻ ǎŜǊǾƛŎe in 1951 at Central 

Station.  (Courtesy of the TFD) 
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In 1970 the TFD completed construction of an 

extensive Training Center at Ajo Way and Park 

Avenue, right next to Fire Station 10 (see 

section on fire stations below).1 

New technology continued to be applied to 

improve TFD operations.  Self-contained 

breathing apparatus for use in dense smoke 

situations were introduced in the 1950s and 

generally accepted by firefighters in the 1960s.  

Trials with traffic signal preemption devices (to 

allow priority fire apparatus passage) began in 

1967.  

.ȅ мфтл ¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ ǿŀǘŜǊ ǎǳǇǇƭȅ ƛƴŦǊŀǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜ ƘŀŘ ƎǊŜŀǘƭȅ ŜȄǇŀƴŘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƳŜǘǊƻǇƻƭƛǘŀƴ ŀǊŜŀΣ 

providing 1594 miles of water mains and 5382 fire hydrants. 

The TFD was becoming a major business.  In mid-1955 the TFD began issuing annual reports covering the 

ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎ ȅŜŀǊΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ƛƴ ŦŀŎƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΣ ŀǇǇŀǊŀǘǳǎΣ ŀƴŘ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭΤ ŀƴŘ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ǿƛǘƘ 

respect to alarms, major fires, fire prevention, rescue and first aid, training, and organizational 

departments.  Typically, the TFD organization (charts) in this time period reflected all of these items, 

ŀƭǘƘƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎ ǎƘƻǿŜŘ ǉǳƛǘŜ ŀ ǾŀǊƛŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ άǿƛǊƛƴƎέ ŘƛŀƎǊŀƳǎΦ  LƴǘŜǊŜǎǘƛƴƎƭȅΣ ǘƘŜ ƘŜŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

5ŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘΣ ǘƘŜ άǇǳǘǘƛƴƎ ƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊŜǎέ ǇŀǊǘΣ ǿŀǎ ǾŀǊƛƻǳǎƭȅ ƭŀōŜƭŜŘ άCƛǊŜŦƛƎƘǘƛƴƎΣέ ά/ƻƳōŀǘΣέ ŀƴŘ άCƛǊŜ 

{ǳǇǇǊŜǎǎƛƻƴέ ƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛƻŘΦ  ¢C5 ōǳŘƎŜǘ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀǇǇŜŀǊŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǘƛƳŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ мфсс-67 

Annual Report.  The TFD budget was $2.37M, compared to the Tucson City budget of $27.4M.  By 1969-

70, the TFD budget had grown to $3.30M and Tucson budget to $37.0M.  In these years, the TFD budget 

was almost 9% of the Tucson budget. 

Fire Stations.  At the start of 1950 the TFD had four fire stations: Station 1 (Central Station) at 142 South 

6th Avenue, Station 2 at 1030 North 4th Avenue, Station 3 on East 9th Street at Park Avenue, and Station 4 

at the northeast corner of Grande and Alameda.  Station 3 was relocated to 24 Norris Avenue in 1953 

ŀƴŘ {ǘŀǘƛƻƴ н ǿŀǎ ŘŜŎƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴŜŘ ƛƴ мфсо ǿƘŜƴ άƛǘ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎƛƴƎƭȅ ƻōǎƻƭŜǘŜ ŦƻǊ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎŜ 

ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜǎΦέ 

During the 1950s other stations were added almost as fast as annexations occurred.  Some of them 

were temporary quarters for several years before permanent stations could be built.  These included 

residential houses, an airport hangar, and commercial buildings.  Two other stations originally belonged 

to private fire departments before being absorbed by the TFD via annexation.  The accompanying figure 

shows all of the fire stations that started service from 1950-1970.  

                                                           
1
 This TFD Training Center was used until 1997, then converted to the Fire Prevention Division office, purchased by 

Golden Eagle Distributor around 2000, and demolished a couple of years later.  The Training Center was replaced 
in 1997 by the Public Safety !ŎŀŘŜƳȅΣ ƻǇŜǊŀǘŜŘ Ƨƻƛƴǘƭȅ ōȅ ¢ǳŎǎƻƴΩǎ CƛǊŜ ŀƴŘ tƻƭƛŎŜ 5ŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘǎΣ ŀǘ млллм {ƻǳǘƘ 
Wilmot Road.  
 

The TFD Training Center at Ajo and Park was completed 

in 1970.  (Courtesy of the TFD) 
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Station 3                                            

24 Norris Avenue                       

1953- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Station 6                                            

Bellevue and Venice                                        

1959-1983 

 

Station 7                                           

3202 East 1st St.                            

1959-1983 

 

Station 8                                            

250 West King Road                        

1968- 

 

Station 9                                            

5941 East 22
nd

 St.                           

1959-1966 

 

These are the fire stations that started in service from 1950-1970.  (Courtesy of the TFD) 

Station 10                              

Southwest of Kino and 36
th

 Street                                            

1956-1965 

 

Station 10                                            

801 East Ajo Way                                

1965- 

 

Station 5                                            

1510 East Grant Rd.                      

1953-1983 

 

Station 8                                            

3325 North Stone Ave.                          

late 1950s-1968 

 

Station 9                                            

6275 East Eastland                        

1966- 

 

Station 11                                            

4075 East Timrod                                

1961- 

 

Station 6                                            

Fifth and Swan                               

1956-1959 
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A short summary of the history of each station follows: 

Station 5 was built in 1953 at Grant Road and Vine Avenue as a result of anticipated population growth.  

In 1983, looking to expand the building, the station was moved to its current site two miles farther east 

to 2835 East Grant Road.  The original Station 5 in noǿ ǘƘŜ /ƛǘȅΩǎ ƴƻǊǘƘǎƛŘŜ ²ŀǊŘ о office. 

Station 6 was originally housed near 5th Avenue and Swan in 1956 and relocated to the corner of 

Bellevue and Venice in 1959.  This busy midtown station was closed in 1983 when it was merged with 

the original Station 7 near Speedway and Country Club.  Station 6 was briefly recommissioned in 1994 in 

a temporary building, closed again until 1997 when it was brought into service on the grounds of the 

Regional Public Safety Academy at 10001 South Wilmot Road, where today it ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ŎƛǘȅΩǎ ǎƻǳǘƘŜǊƴƳƻǎǘ 

firehouse.  The original Station 6 was demolished in the 1960s/1970s and replaced by a small office 

building.   The station at Bellevue and Venice is owned by a behavioral health services agency. 

Station 7 originally was constructed at 3202 East 1st Street in 1959.  It was converted to a Tucson Police 

5ŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘ ǎǳōǎǘŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ мфуо ŀƴŘ ƛǎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘƭȅ ƘƻƳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƛǘȅΩǎ ²ŀǊŘ с /ƻǳƴŎƛƭ ƻŦŦƛŎŜΦ  {ǘŀǘƛƻƴ т ǿŀǎ 

relocated to 4902 Pima Street and today is one of the busiest stations in the City, encompassing a large 

Station 12                                            

7901 East Scarlett                          

1965-1976 

 

Station 14                                            

5832 South 6
th

 St.                              

1960-1968 

 

Station 14                                           

5757 South Liberty                            

1968- 

 

These are the fire stations that started in service from 1950-1970, continued.  (Courtesy of the TFD) 

 

Station 13                                            

341 West Ajo Way                          

1960-1965 

 

Station 12                                            

Blacklidge and Country Club                         

1959-1965 

 

 

(no photo available) 


